FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
2/14/2019 1:33 PM

SCt No. 96847-1 COA NO. 76340-7-I

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

BRIAN J. SMITH,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR WHATCOM COUNTY

The Honorable Charles R. Snyder, Judge

PETITION FOR REVIEW

LENELL NUSSBAUM Attorney for Appellant

2125 Western Ave., Suite 330 Seattle, WA 98121 (206) 728-0996

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Brian Smith petitions this Court for review of the Court of Appeals opinion identified in part B.

B. COURT OF APPEALS OPINION

Petitioner seeks review of the Court of Appeals opinion filed 12/3/2018 (App. A). The Court denied reconsideration 1/15/2019 (App. B).

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Where a suspect voluntarily gave a breath test, and verbally and physically expresses his needle phobia when faced with a routine warrant for a blood draw, may the State threaten him with a taser, strap him in four-point restraints on a table, have four or five large men on top of him and up to ten people try to hold him still, and ultimately inject him with antipsychotic medication to sedate him to the point of incompetence for hours, to draw his blood? U.S. Const., amend. 4; Const., art. I, § 7.
- 2. What degree of force does a search warrant for a "routine" blood draw authorize in order to obtain a needle-phobic suspect's blood?

 U.S. Const., amend. 4; Const., art. I, § 7.

- 3. In a blood alcohol case, where the suspect repeatedly requested counsel but the State denied him counsel for hours then sedated him, leaving him unable to contact counsel, was this denial under CrR 3.1 harmless error?
- 4. Were statements petitioner made while undergoing these forced procedures "voluntary" and admissible, although denied counsel? U.S. Const., amend. 5.
- 5. Was petitioner denied effective assistance of counsel when his lawyer did not object to medical personnel testifying in violation of his statutory privilege? U.S. Const., amend. 6; Const., art. I, § 22.
- 6. In this vehicular homicide case in which the trial court instructed on superseding cause, did due process require the court unambiguously to instruct the jury that the State bore the burden to prove the absence of a superseding cause? U.S. Const., amend. 14; Const., art. I, § 3.

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Brian Smith, a 31-year-old husband and father of five with no criminal record, was on his way home after an evening with his family and dinner of

burgers and fries. His wife drove with the children a few vehicles behind him. About 8:45 p.m. he slowed on the highway to allow an oncoming car to pass. As he turned left, a motorcycle struck his vehicle. Paramedics medically cleared Brian at the scene. The motorcyclist died later that night of his injuries. RP 562-81, 1146, 1403-05, 1421-30; RP(11/3/15) 23; CP 145.

1. PRETRIAL HEARING

Brian identified himself as the driver to Trooper Beattie. He described his actions before Beattie's At. request, Brian the collision. performed field sobriety tests and blew a portable breath test. Beattie arrested him at 9:33 p.m. He advised him of his right to speak to an attorney "now." Brian asked to speak to an attorney. Beattie said he couldn't then, but could at the jail. They remained at the scene until 10:22 p.m. Beattie learned the motorcyclist was seriously injured. He prepared a search warrant for Brian's blood. Beattie did not tell Brian they were going to a hospital for a blood draw before jail. RP 55-57, 73-83, 126, 144, 149; RP(11/3/15) 23-28, 35-43.

At the hospital at 10:41 p.m., Beattie obtained a telephonic search warrant for Brian's blood in 15-20 minutes. When a phlebotomist approached, Brian explained he was afraid of needles, he would not permit a draw. He was not cuffed. He was calm and compliant, not combative. He expressed his concerns only verbally. He did not yell. He did not physically react until approached with a needle. RP 87-94, 140.

Beattie let Brian leave the room to use the restroom. Officers then placed him in a room with padded walls and a bed with restraints. Brian reiterated his fear of needles and again asked for a lawyer. Beattie told him to get on the bed to be restrained. When Brian resisted, officers put him on the bed. Beattie put his taser on Brian's chest and threatened to tase him if he didn't allow them to strap him down. Brian complied with the restraints. RP 91-100, 272-76.

Despite four-point restraints, whenever a needle came near, Brian tensed and flailed. Four or five very large officers got on top of Brian to hold him down, with a total of ten people trying to hold him still. RP 98, 272-76.

It was decided Brian would be sedated against his consent. The doctor had never sedated someone While still restrained and for a blood draw. injected with "distracted,"1 Brian was antipsychotic drug Haldol and Ativan or Benedryl at The sedation made Brian incompetent for 1:00 a.m. "an hour or two." They drew his blood at 1:30 a.m. He went to jail still sedated. RP 112, 135, 244-49, 256.

2. MEDICAL PERSONNEL PRIVILEGE

The defense moved to limit the doctor's trial testimony to what he saw and heard, asserting a privilege in his medical records and any diagnosis. The court denied the motion. RP 623-28. The defense did not assert the statutory privileges of RCW 5.60.060(4) and 5.62.020 at trial or pretrial.

SUPERSEDING CAUSE

At trial, Brian testified he saw no headlight coming when he began his turn. An investigator found the motorcycle's headlight operated

Although not described in detail at the pretrial hearing, in addition to the people on top of him, a trooper testified at trial that he struck Brian's leg "as a pain compliance technique" to distract him while a nurse injected him with the sedative. Resp. Br. at 43; RP 791-92, 1181-82.

intermittently. RP 1429-30, 1114-16, 1120-21, 1272. The motorcycle also had an after-market hand lever clutch, called a "suicide clutch" or "suicide shifter." Instead of the usual pedal clutch, the driver had to remove his right hand from the handlebar throttle and reach down to shift gears. Removing a hand from the handlebars reduces a rider's stability and his ability to make an evasive maneuver if he needs to. RP 1268-71.

The court instructed the jury on superseding cause. The parties argued this evidence and issue. The court did not clearly instruct that the State bore the burden of proving there was no superseding cause. CP 95-98; RP 1543-45, 1571-74, 1578-80.

E. GROUNDS FOR REVIEW AND ARGUMENT

1. THE COURT OF APPEALS OPINION UPHOLDING THE STATE'S METHOD OF SEARCHING PETITIONER'S BODY AND SEIZING HIS BLOOD CONFLICTS WITH OPINIONS OF THE SUPREME COURT AND THE COURT OF APPEALS, PRESENTS A SIGNIFICANT QUESTION OF LAW UNDER THE U.S. AND WASHINGTON CONSTITUTIONS, AND INVOLVES AN ISSUE OF SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC INTEREST THIS COURT SHOULD DECIDE. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), (3), (4).

The Constitution does not sanction "methods too close to the rack and the screw." Rochin v. California, 342 U.S. 165, 72 S. Ct. 205, 96 L. Ed. 183 (1952). Four or five large men on top of a

smaller young man in four-point restraints as others try to take his blood with a needle and ultimately inject him with anti-psychotic drugs to sedate him, bears little difference. Assuming a warrant does not sub silentio authorize the State to kill a suspect in order to obtain his blood, the issue is what level of force is constitutional.

a. The Opinion Presents a Significant Constitutional Issue Under the Fourth Amendment. RAP 13.4(b)(3).

[Seizing blood is] a compelled physical intrusion beneath [a person]'s skin and into his veins to obtain a sample of his blood for use as evidence in a criminal investigation. Such an invasion of bodily integrity implicates an individual's 'most personal and deeprooted expectations of privacy.'

Missouri v. McNeely, 569 U.S. 141, 148, 133 S. Ct. 1552, 185 L. Ed. 2d 696 (2013). Despite a warrant the Fourth Amendment requires that both the purpose and the manner of seizure be reasonable.

[T]he Fourth Amendment's proper function is to constrain, not against all intrusions as such, but against

The Court of Appeals concluded: "It is not sensible to read the warrant in a way that stops short of obtaining that evidence." Slip Op. at 16, quoting State v. Figeroa Martines, 184 Wn.2d 83, 93, 355 P.3d 1111 (2015), which did not involve a second intrusion into the suspect's body.

³ Constitutional texts are in Appendix C.

intrusions which are not justified in the circumstances, or which are made in an improper manner.

Schmerber v. California, 384 U.S. 757, 768, 86 S. Ct. 1826, 16 L. Ed. 2d 908 (1966). Whether a search or seizure is reasonable "must be determined case by case based on the totality of the circumstances." McNeely, supra, 569 U.S. at 144.

The Schmerber Court held a blood test administered without the use of force in a hospital was reasonable. The Court carefully limited its holding to the facts before it: the defendant refused both breathalyzer and blood test, but a blood sample was taken without a warrant. The Court specifically noted the defendant was not phobic about needles - which might require a different outcome.

[F]or most people the procedure involves virtually no risk, trauma, or pain. Petitioner is not one of the few who on grounds of fear, concern for health, or religious scruple might prefer some other means of testing, such as the 'breathalyzer' test petitioner refused...

Id. at 771 (emphases added).4

Other courts also recognize the significance of needle phobia. See, e.g.: State v. Sisler, 114 Ohio App. 3d 337, 683 N.E.2d 106 (1996) (conviction reversed where due to needle fear, defendant "shackled to a hospital bed is held

It would be a different case if the police initiated the violence, refused to respect a reasonable request to undergo a different form of testing, or responded to resistance with inappropriate force.

Id. at 760 n.4.

This is the "different case:" (1) Brian did not refuse a breath test, but gave one when asked at the scene; (2) Brian informed the police he was needle phobic; (3) the police did not offer an

down by six persons while a seventh jabs at his arm with a needle in order to withdraw his blood at the direction of the state's officers"); State v. Ravotto, 169 N.J. 227, 233, 777 A.2d 301 (2001) ("To obtain defendant's blood, Officer Sullivan and hospital personnel had to restrain defendant. Defendant's legs and his left arm were strapped to a table, and several persons ... held him down. The record is undisputed that defendant screamed and struggled to free himself as the nurse drew his fear of needles made procedure Held: blood." unconstitutional when could have given breath test.); People v. Kraft, 3 Cal. App. 3d 890, 84 (three officers Rptr. 280 (1970)defendant face down on floor while doctor drew blood; conviction reversed); Wessell v. DOJ, 277 Mont. 234, 921 P.2d 264 (1996) (fear of needles made defendant incapable of providing blood test; license suspension for refusing test reversed); In re Griffiths, 113 Idaho 364, 372, 744 P.2d 92 (1987) (fear of needles valid cause for refusing blood test; no suspension if suspect told officer of fear and requested another test).

The Court of Appeals struggled to conclude the pretrial record "provides no support for his assertion of fear." Slip Op. at 13 n.12. But see RP 92, 96, 108, 270, 275, & 285 (Brian conveyed his fear verbally and by his behavior). The trial court did not find Brian's fear was not genuine. The appellate court's different

alternative breath test; (4) the police engaged in inappropriate physical force; and (5) the State ultimately drugged the defendant into incompetence against his will.

The Court of Appeals concluded Brian was sedated only because he "chose" not to cooperate with the blood draw. Slip Op. at 14. Courts acknowledge that needle phobia is not a "choice." Injection phobia is a recognized mental disorder in the DSM characterized by "avoidance behavior and intense, irrational fear."

credibility determination conflicts with State v. W.R., 181 $\overline{\text{Wn}}$.2d 757, 770, 336 P.3d 1134 (2014) ("it is the function of the trial court and not [the appellate] court to consider the credibility of witnesses and to weigh the evidence"); and case law that presumes a fact not found was not proven by the party with the burden of proof: State v. Armenta, 134 Wn.2d 1, 14, 948 P.2d 1280 (1997); State v. Beaver, 184 Wn. App. 235, 250-51, 336 P.3d 654 (2014); State v. Jacobson, 36 Wn. App. 446, 450, 674 P.2d 1255 (1983). Moreover, notice to officers should be sufficient to consider needle phobia, not subsequent proof that the fear was genuine, when a suspect has no way of presenting that proof when confronted with a blood test. this reason too, this Court should grant review. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2).

See cases cited at note 4, supra.

Wani, A.L., Ara, A., & Bhat, S.A., Blood Injury and Injection Phobia: The Neglected One, 2014 Behav. Neurol. 471340 (June 24, 2014) (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4094700/, last visited 6/5/2018); DIAGNOSTIC AND STATISTICAL

Blood tests are significantly more intrusive [than breath tests], and their reasonableness must be judged in light of the availability of the less invasive alternative of a breath test.

Birchfield v. North Dakota, ____ U.S. ____, 136 S. Ct. 2160, 2184, 195 L. Ed. 2d 560 (2016). A suspect's consent to a less intrusive breath test can make a forced blood test unreasonable under the Fourth Amendment, as it reduces "to insignificance" the State's need to draw blood. Hammer v. Gross, 932 F.2d 842, 846 (9th Cir. 1991) (en banc).

This Court should review this case to decide how the Fourth Amendment applies to blood tests for a needle-phobic suspect.

b. This Court Should Decide Whether This State's Policy is to Avoid Violent Confrontations Between Police and Suspects in Our Emergency Rooms - an Issue of Substantial Public Interest. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

The basic premise of a nation of laws is that people and the State use words to resolve differences rather than engage in violence.

Although it is possible for a subject to be forcibly immobilized so that a [blood] sample may be drawn, many States prohibit

Manual of Mental Disorders (5th Ed. 2013) (DSM-5) at 197-202.

drawing blood from a driver who resists since this practice helps 'to avoid violent confrontations.'

Birchfield, supra, 136 S. Ct. at 2167.8 This Court should decide whether a warrant issued without notice of a suspect's needle phobia allows the State to forcibly compel a blood draw, without offering a breath test, when a suspect tells officers of his needle phobia or resists; or whether they must seek a warrant addendum advising the magistrate of the new circumstances - particularly before drugging the suspect with antipsychotics or other sedatives.9

In Winston v. Lee, 470 U.S. 753, 105 S. Ct. 1611, 84 L. Ed. 2d 662 (1985), the State wanted to surgically remove a bullet from the defendant's chest. Advised the procedure would require a local

⁸ See e.g. South Dakota v. Neville, 459
U.S. 553, 103 S. Ct. 916, 74 L. Ed. 2d 748 (1983).

Due process requires a court order to force antipsychotic medications on an unconvicted suspect incompetent to stand trial. Sell v. United States, 539 U.S. 166, 123 S. Ct. 2174, 156 L. Ed. 2d 197 (2003). Considering dart gun tranquilizers veterinarians use to pacify large animals: humans on would, of course, be intrusions constitutionally objectionable." Carleton v. Superior Court, 170 Cal. App. 3d 1182, 1191, 216 Cal. Rptr. 890 (1985) (emphasis added).

anaesthetic, the court ordered the procedure. When it became evident the procedure would require a general anaesthetic, the State returned to the court with this additional information to order this more intrusive procedure. The court declined. The Supreme Court affirmed.

The importance of informed, detached and deliberate determinations of the issue whether or not to invade another's body in search of evidence of guilt is indisputable and great.

Id. at 761.

When conducted with the consent of the requiring general patient, surgery anesthesia is not necessarily demeaning intrusive. In such a case, surgeon is carrying out the patient's own will concerning the patient's body and privacy right to patient's therefore preserved. In this case, however, the Court of Appeals noted that the Commonwealth proposes to take control of respondent's body, to 'drug this citizen -- not yet convicted of a criminal offense--with narcotics and barbiturates into a state of unconsciousness,' ... and then to search beneath his skin for evidence of a crime. This kind of involves a virtually total surgery respondent's ordinary ο£ divestment control over surgical probing beneath his skin.

Id. at 765. See also: United States v. Husband,
226 F.3d 626, 632 (7th Cir. 2000) (warrant for body
search did not authorize sedation).10

The people of Washington need this Court to address this issue. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

c. The Court of Appeals Opinion Conflicts with this Court's Opinions Applying Article I, Section 7 and Presents a Significant Question of Constitutional Law. RAP 13.4(b)(3).

No person shall be disturbed in his private affairs...without authority of law.

Article I, section 7 provides greater protection of a person's privacy rights than the Fourth Amendment. State v. Simpson, 95 Wn.2d 170, 622 P.2d 1199 (1980); State v. Mayfield, ___ Wn.2d ___ (Slip Op. No. 95632-4, 2/7/2019). This increased protection requires warrants more often, with far more limited exceptions. It requires a second "authority of law" to go beyond the limited scope

Without authority, the Court of Appeals distinguished these cases because Brian was only incompetent, not "unconscious." Slip Op. at 14.

Here the Court of Appeals held "Article I, section 7 prohibits only 'unreasonable searches and seizures.'" Slip Op. at 16. But "reasonableness" is the touchstone of the Fourth Amendment; it "qualitatively differs from" Art. I, § 7. "Its primary purpose is to protect the individual right to privacy and to provide a certain remedy when that right is violated." Mayfield at 8, 11.

of an exception, and when police learn of new facts beyond the scope of an initial warrant. Police frequently obtain addenda to expand the scope of a search warrant when they learn of new circumstances while executing a warrant. Needle phobia is a significant new circumstance.

Here police obtained a warrant not knowing Brian was needle phobic. Thus the warrant did not

See, e.g.: State v. Thompson, 151 Wn.2d 793, 92 P.3d 228 (2004) (community caretaking exception); State v. Ferrier, 136 Wn.2d 103, 114, 960 P.2d 927 (1998) (consent search); State v. White, 135 Wn.2d 761, 768, 958 P.2d 982 (1998) (automobile inventory searches limited to unlocked compartments); State v. Williams, 102 Wn.2d 733, (community caretaking 1065 (1984)698 P.2d function); State v. Stroud, 106 Wn.2d 144, 720 P.2d 436 (1986) (exigent circumstances for automobile search); State v. Chrisman, 100 Wn.2d 814, 676 P.2d 419 (1984) (search incident to arrest); Mayfield (attenuation doctrine); State v. Valdez, 167 Wn.2d 772, 224 P.3d 751 (2009) (search of car incident to arrest did not permit search of locked container); State v. Monaghan, 165 Wn. App. 782, 266 P.3d 222 (2012) (search and seizure of locked safe in trunk required warrant; went beyond consent to search passenger compartment).

See, e.g.: State v. Besola, 184 Wn.2d 605, 608, 359 P.2d 799 (2015) (addendum for child pornography seen while executing search warrant for drugs); Snohomish Reg'l Drug Task Force v. Real Property, 151 Wn. App. 743, 747-48, 214 P.3d 928 (2009), review denied, 168 Wn.2d 1019 (2010) (while executing search warrant for barn, found evidence of marijuana in home and shed; obtained telephonic addendum to extend search to residence and shed).

See authorities at note 4, supra.

cover this eventuality. The hospital ordeal took more than enough time to get a second warrant if a magistrate would approve sedation under these circumstances. 15

The Court of Appeals concluded there was no need for a second warrant unless Smith showed he would have complied with it. Slip Op. at 15 n.16. But the Constitution requires a magistrate's permission to "disturb [his] private affairs," i.e., here to sedate him to incompetence with antipsychotic drugs. The Constitution does not have an exception, and the Court of Appeals did not cite one, saying a warrant is not required if the suspect would not comply with it anyway.

This Court should decide whether Article I, section 7 permits the State to conduct a second intrusion into a person's body to drug him with antipsychotics without a second warrant.

2. THE COURT OF APPEALS CONCLUSION THAT DENIAL OF COUNSEL WAS HARMLESS ERROR CONFLICTS WITH SUPREME COURT AND COURT OF APPEALS OPINIONS AND PRESENTS A SIGNIFICANT PUBLIC INTEREST ISSUE THIS COURT SHOULD DECIDE. RAP 13.4 (b) (1), (2), (4).

McNeely, supra (if time allows, warrant should be obtained); see also Winston, supra (order authorizing general anaesthetic denied).

The trial court found the police did not comply with CrR 3.1. CP 331. This unchallenged finding is a verity on appeal. Nonetheless, the Court of Appeals concluded the State did not deny Brian his right to counsel under CrR 3.1; and if it did, it was harmless error. Slip Op. at 17-20.17

In *Mullins*, the defendant had access to telephones before he waived his right to counsel and talked to detectives. He "was not restrained in close custody" before he spoke. *Id.* at 370. Here Brian was not only in closed custody, but strapped to a bed and then sedated. He was not given access to telephones with contact information for defense lawyers. The trial court was correct. Brian was denied counsel under CrR 3.1.

The Court of Appeals nonetheless concluded any denial of counsel was harmless because "an attorney could have done nothing other than instruct the defendant to submit to the blood test." Slip Op.

Resp. Br. at 56; State v. Ruem, 179 Wn.2d 195, 217, 313 P.3d 1156 (2013).

¹⁷ Citing State v. Mullins, 158 Wn. App. 360, 369, 241 P.3d 456 (2010), review denied, 171 Wn.2d 1006 (2011), and State v. Schulze, 116 Wn.2d 154, 804 P.2d 566 (1991).

at 19. This conclusion conflicts with opinions by this Court and the Court of Appeals.

Statutes guarantee a person the right to an independent BAC test. 18

[W] hether the State has unreasonably interfered with a DWI suspect's right to additional testing under the implied consent laws must be determined on a case by case basis.

McNichols, 128 Wn.2d at 252. When the State denies BAC suspects the right to counsel, it denies them an independent test. 19

We have noted the importance of the right to independent testing of blood samples when the subject might be charged with crimes even more serious than DUI:

¹⁸ Former RCW 46.61.506(6) (2014); State v. Morales, 173 Wn.2d 560, 269 P.3d 263 (2012); State v. McNichols, 128 Wn.2d 242, 906 P.2d 329 (1995).

Tacoma v. Heater, 67 Wn.2d See, e.g.: 733, 409 P.2d 867 (1966) (police policy prevented DUI suspects from phoning counsel for four hours after arrest); State v. Fitzsimmons, 93 Wn.2d 436, 893 (1980), vacated and remanded, P.2d Washington v. Fitzsimmons, 449 U.S. 977, 101 S. Ct. 390, 66 L. Ed. 2d 240 (1980), aff'd on remand, 94 Wn.2d 858, 620 P.2d 999 (1980) (suspect denied counsel upon arrest); Blaine v. Suess, 93 Wn.2d 722, 728, 612 P.2d 789 (1980) (suspect requested independent test; trooper said would take to hospital for test, but instead took to jail where held overnight without counsel); Seattle v. Box, 29 Wn. App. 109, 627 P.2d 584 (1981) (suspect called counsel upon arrest, counsel said would be there in 20 minutes; officer would not wait, noted refusal of test, took suspect to jail where held several hours; police told counsel client left in cab).

It is in just such cases that the need to protect the defendant's right to proof is most important. The transiency of the defendant's allegedly intoxicated condition is an important factor in negligent homicide cases, since evidence which can help prove or disprove the charge will disappear within a relatively short time. ...

relatively short time. ...
[I]n a DUI case the right to independent testing "is in keeping with a defendant's constitutional due process right to gather evidence in his own defense."

Morales, 173 Wn.2d at 575-76.

In Spokane v. Kruger, 116 Wn.2d 135, 147, 803 P.2d 305 (1991), decided the same day as Schulze, this Court held the denial of counsel under the court rule required suppression of "any evidence obtained after he was denied counsel, including his refusal to take the Breathalyzer test."

Schulze does not make this error harmless. Mr. Schulze was not needle phobic. He did not resist the blood test. Police did not threaten him with tasers, place him in restraints on a bed, climb on top of him and hold him down, or drug him with antipsychotics rendering him incompetent for several hours. After a calm blood draw, Mr. Schultze was able to contact his attorney.

In contrast, Brian asked for counsel before the blood test. Counsel could have advocated with her client and the troopers on how Brian could comply with the warrant without violence; suggested a breath test instead; demanded another warrant to drug Brian; and advocated for Brian with the magistrate to preclude antipsychotic drugs, offer an oral sedative, or allow a breath test instead. Contacted promptly, she could have obtained a timely independent test.

Unlike Schulze, drugging Brian prevented him from contacting counsel until hours after the collision and more than two hours after the blood draw. This effect was precisely that of police policy condemned in Heater, Suess, and Box. This Court should review it. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2).

3. THIS COURT SHOULD REVIEW WHETHER THE DENIAL OF COUNSEL AND THE FORCE USED AT THE HOSPITAL RENDERED PETITIONER'S STATEMENTS INVOLUNTARY UNDER THE FIFTH AMENDMENT. RAP 13.4(b)(3).

The Schmerber Court anticipated the State may obtain involuntary self-incriminating evidence in the course of administering a blood test.

Such incriminating evidence may be an unavoidable by-product of the compulsion to take the test, especially for an individual who fears the extraction or

opposes it on religious grounds. wishes to compel persons to submit to such attempts to discover evidence, the State may have to forgo the advantage of any testimonial products of administering the test -- products which would fall Indeed, there may within the privilege. circumstances in which the pain, danger, or severity of an operation would almost inevitably cause a person to prefer confession to undergoing the "search," and nothing we say today should taken as establishing permissibility of compulsion in that case.

Schmerber, 384 U.S. at 765 n.9 (Court's italics; bold emphases added). 20

Brian's statements at the hospital while confronted with needles, strapped down, held down and drugged, were not "voluntary" under the Fifth Amendment. They were prejudicial to both the obstructing and the vehicular homicide charges. Under Schmerber, that evidence should have been excluded.

4. COUNSEL'S FAILURE TO ASSERT PETITIONER'S MEDICAL PRIVILEGE PRESENTS A CONSTITUTIONAL ISSUE AND CONFLICTS WITH AN OPINION BY THE SUPREME COURT AND COURT OF APPEALS. RAP 13.4(b)(1),(2),(3).

See also Brewer v. Williams, 430 U.S. 387, 97 S. Ct. 1232, 51 L. Ed. 2d 424 (1977) (officers' long speech about needing a "Christian burial" for the missing child evoked a confession, violating Fifth Amendment).

A defendant is denied his constitutional right to counsel if trial counsel's performance is deficient and prejudicial.²¹

Physicians and nurses may not testify "as to any information acquired in attending such patient, which was necessary to enable him or her to prescribe or act for the patient." 22

All information, including but not limited to, statements of the patient and oral evidence of the physician is covered by the privilege.

State v. Gibson, 3 Wn. App. 596, 476 P.2d 727, review denied, 78 Wn.2d 996 (1971). The privilege extends to anyone acting as the physician's or nurse's agent. In Gibson, it was error to admit a police guard's testimony of what the defendant said while being medically examined on the way to jail.

In State v. Salas, 1 Wn. App. 2d 931, 408 P.3d 383, review denied, 190 Wn.2d 1016 (2018), the defendant was charged with murder. An officer testified to incriminating statements the defendant

 $^{^{21}}$ Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674, 104 S. Ct. 2052 (1984); State v. McFarland, 127 Wn.2d 322, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995); U.S. Const., amends. 6, 14; Const., art. I, § 22.

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