FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 3/25/2019 3:52 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 96847-1 (Court of Appeals No. 76340-7-I)

THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

v.

BRIAN J. SMITH, Appellant.

CONTINGENT CROSS PETITION FOR REVIEW

ERIC J. RICHEY, Whatcom County Prosecuting Attorney By HILARY THOMAS Appellate Deputy Prosecutor Attorney for Respondent WSBA #22007/ADMIN #91075 Whatcom County Prosecutor's Office 311 Grand Avenue, Second Floor Bellingham, WA 98225 (360) 778-5710

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether this Court should grant review of whether WPIC 90.07 and 90.08 adequately convey the law regarding proximate cause and superseding causes and the State's burden of proof thereon if this Court grants review of petitioner's issue that the Court of Appeals erred in determining that it was harmless error for the

¹ The State is not filing an answer to Smith's petition for review unless the Court otherwise indicates it desires one.

instructions not to convey that the State bore the burden of proof regarding absence of a superseding cause.

2. If this Court accepts review of petitioner's issue that the error regarding the jury instructions on superseding causation was not harmless, whether the defendant preserved the issue for review where he invited any error regarding the lack of an adequate instruction on superseding causes by proposing the instruction he alleges was inadequate and where he failed to address whether his alleged jury instruction error was a manifest error of constitutional magnitude under RAP 2.5.

D. STATEMENT OF FACTS RELEVANT TO CONTINGENT CROSS-PETITION

Shortly after 8:30 p.m. on a December's night Petitioner Smith's

SUV struck victim Schuyleman's motorcycle, which was coming from the

opposite direction, at the intersection of Kale Road and Christopher Lane,

a short distance beyond the town of Everson. RP 540-42, 557, 567, Ex. 2,

3, 4, 19. It was dark at the time, but the road was clear and there was very

little traffic. RP 551, 557, 568-69, 577. Kale St. is a straight-a-way and

during the day a person can see a far ways down the road. RP 768, Ex. 33,

35. Smith hit the motorcycle nearly head on when he began to cut the

corner to turn left onto Christopher Lane.² RP 759, 775, 1099, 1302; Ex.

19, 27, 33, 35, 44³. The impact threw Schuyleman up onto the hood of

Smith's SUV, shattering the SUV's windshield, bending the handlebars on

² The posted speed limit was 35 mph, but it didn't appear speed was a factor in the collision. RP 1095-96, 1120-22.

³ The blue mark is the fluid path for the SUV and resulted from radiator fluid leaking out when the radiator was damaged in the collision. RP 1089-91.

the motorcycle backward and causing damage to the motorcycle's gas tank. RP 773, 11097-09, 1111. The motorcycle was found in the westbound lane of Kale St., the opposite lane than the one in which Smith had been driving his SUV. RP 540-41, 746, 763, 1307, Ex. 19, 44.

Smith told Schuyleman at the scene that he hadn't seen him, and told officers that night he hadn't seen the motorcycle as he was turning into Christopher Lane, into his neighborhood. RP 552, 611, 818-19. He said he had been traveling eastbound, had been attempting to turn left and had to slow down for a car in the opposite lane to pass before turning. RP 819, 834. He said he thought the intersection had been clear. RP 834. Smith told a witness at the scene something about the motorcycle coming at him, which the witness thought was odd because the motorcycle would have had the right of way as Smith was turning left. RP 1410. Smith testified he had slowed down to turn left as an oncoming vehicle passed and was just starting to turn left when he hit something. RP 1427-28.

The trooper at the scene doing accident reconstruction didn't check to see if the headlight on the motorcycle was working, but would have had to turn the motorcycle on to see if the headlight worked because there was no switch to turn it on. RP 778, 781, 1114. The motorcycle's headlight had been working earlier that day when a friend and Schuyleman were riding their motorcycles together. RP 1481-82. The friend indicated the

3

first thing a motorcyclist does after starting the bike is to check the headlight, and that Schuyleman would have noticed if the headlight wasn't on because it would have been impossible to see given how dark it was. RP 1482. The bike had five forward facing lights, two of which were amber. RP 1483. The two smaller white lights could be switched off but not the main headlight. RP 1483. The photos of the bike at the scene that night showed the main headlight and the two amber lights were on, as well as the taillight. RP 1484-85, Ex. 8, 10.⁴

Later when the motorcycle was being inspected in the impound lot, the headlight turned on as soon as the motorcycle was turned on. RP 1115, Ex. 53, 54. The headlight worked for a while and then it stopped working and didn't come back on. RP 1116.

A defense expert testified that the motorcycle had an after-market type hand lever shifter on it, which meant that instead of shifting with one's toe, the shifting was done with one's hand. He acknowledged, however, that there was nothing to indicate the shifter had anything to do with the collision. RP 1269-74. There was testimony that the shifter worked well. RP 1487. He also testified that the collision may have caused whatever problems there was with the headlight. RP 1276.

⁴ The State has included these facts regarding the headlight because the Court of Appeals opinion largely addressed Smith's argument below that the headlight being off could have been a superseding cause of the collision. Smith appears to have abandoned this factual argument in his petition for review.

Smith testified at trial that he'd had one beer after he ate dinner at the Rusty Wagon before he drove towards home, at 8:30 p.m., but denied having anything to drink at the BP Christmas party earlier. RP 1425-26, 1480. He admitted he lied to the officer about not having anything to drink. RP 1426, 1451. His BAC would have been .08-.11 within two hours of the collision. RP 1160.

Smith was charged with vehicular homicide, as well as obstructing a police officer. At trial Smith proposed instruction no. 9, the instruction regarding proximate cause and superseding causes, based on WPIC 90.08. CP 97, 381; RP 1516-17; Petitioner's App. D. The State did not object to the instruction being given due to the testimony, albeit limited, regarding the headlight. CP 362-79; RP 1516-17. Smith did not object to the State's instructions regarding the definition of vehicular homicide or the proximate cause instruction, based on WPIC 90.07, and did not request any further instruction on superseding intervening causes. CP 371-73; RP 1516-18, 1526. His objection to the elements instruction on vehicular homicide was based solely on his proposed instruction for what he argued was a lesser included offense on the alternative of driving with the disregard for the safety of others. RP 1515-24.

After trial, and after Smith filed his briefing at the Court of Appeals, Division II of the Court of Appeals issued its decision in <u>State v.</u>

<u>Imokawa</u>, 4 Wn. App. 545, 422 P.3d 502 (2018). The Court of Appeals in this case permitted supplemental briefing regarding the instruction issue and addressed the issue in its opinion, adopting Division II's analysis in the <u>Imokawa</u> case. This Court subsequently granted the State's petition for review in the <u>Imokawa</u> case and it is currently pending review. *See*, <u>State v. Imokawa</u>, Washington State Supreme Court No. 96217-1. That case is currently set for oral argument on May 16th.

E. REASONS WHY CONTINGENT REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

The State is cross-petitioning for review of the Court of Appeals decision on the <u>State v. Imokawa</u> issue regarding the State's burden of proof on superseding causes if, and only if, this Court accepts review of Smith's petition for review on the issue of harmless error of the jury instruction on superseding causation. Smith relies on the case of <u>State v.</u> <u>Imokawa</u>, 4 Wn. App. 545, 422 P.3d 502 (2018) in arguing that the Court of Appeals erred in finding the jury instruction error harmless. That case is currently pending review and should be dispositive regarding the legal issue of whether the State bears the burden of proving the absence of superseding causes in a vehicular homicide case. The State asks this Court to accept review of that issue should this Court accept review of Smith's issue asserting the Court of Appeals erred in finding the error

regarding the superseding jury instruction harmless in this case. The State submits that the jury instructions given adequately conveyed the State's burden of proof on causation.

The State also submits that Smith invited the error regarding the instruction because he was the one who proposed the instruction. Under the invited error doctrine, a defendant may not assert on appeal an error regarding a jury instruction if he proposed the jury instruction. <u>State v.</u> <u>Morgan</u>, 123 Wn. App. 810, 818, 99 P.3d 411 (2004), *rev. den.*, 154 Wn.2d 1018 (2005). As he proposed the instruction he complains of, he should not be able to raise this issue for the first time on appeal. The State requests that if this Court accepts review of Smith's issue regarding the jury instructions not being harmless error, that it also grant review on the issue of whether Smith invited the very instructional error he asserts was not harmless.

F. CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth above, Contingent Cross-Petitioner, State of Washington, respectfully requests that, should this Court grant review of the jury instruction harmless error issue Smith seeks review of, this Court also grant review of the Court of Appeals determination that the jury instructions did not adequately convey the State's burden of proof,

7

pursuant to <u>State v. Imokawa</u>, and that Smith was permitted to raise the issue for the first time on appeal.